

Centre for Science and Environment

what? What Next Forum

Discussion Paper Global renewable energy support programme

Globally funded payment guarantees/feed-in tariffs for electricity access through renewable sources

Discussion Paper

Global renewable energy support programme

Globally funded payment guarantees/feed-in tariffs for electricity access through renewable sources



Author: Niclas Hällström

Contributing authors: Chandra Bhushan, Aruna Kumarankandath, Nayanjyoti Goswami

Editor: Arif Ayaz Parrey

Cover:

Layout:

Production:

We are grateful to the Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA) for institutional support.



© 2015

Published by

What Next Forum Norby Källväg 4 SE-756 45 Uppsala Sweden E-mail: info@whatnext.org Website: www.whatnext.org

Centre for Science and Environment 41, Tughlakabad Institutional Area New Delhi 110 062 Phones: 91-11-40616000 Fax: 91-11-29955879 E-mail: cse@cseindia.org Website: www.cseindia.org

Printed at Multi Colour Services, New Delhi

Contents

۱.	Introduction	4
II.	Challenges and vision	6
	Energy access	6
	Sufficiency, well-being and equity	6
	Climate mitigation	7
Part	1: Energy models and support schemes at country levels	8
III.	The future energy model – decentralised, distributed and renewable	8
	Mini-grids	9
	Small-scale electricity generation	10
	Large-scale renewable energy generation	10
IV.	How to spur this renewable energy revolution?	12
V.	What are payment guarantees/feed-in tariffs?	14
	Guaranteed payments	14
	Rights to feed in	15
	Upfront financing	16
VI.	Benefits of payment guarantees/feed-in tariffs	18
Part	2: International financing	19
VII.	Who should pay?	20
	National contributions	20
	International financing	21
VIII.	How much support is needed?	22
IX.	A global financing scheme through the Green Climate Fund	24
	National authorities/agencies	24
	National strategies, needs assessments and participation	25
	Capacity building	25
	Risks and safeguards	26
	The private sector and communities	26
	The UNFCCC technology mechanisms	26
	The Green Climate Fund	26
	Guiding principles for the GCF in relation to energy support	27
	New, coordinating body	29
Х.	What next – moving forward	30
	References	32

I. Introduction

The world needs bold, transformative solutions that can bend the present trajectories of sustained, and even worsening, energy inequalities while simultaneously addressing the escalating threats of climate change. We need real political leadership that can implement grand solutions, but in ways that allow and stimulate real people on the ground to build locally appropriate solutions for power generation from below. We need a different mode of conversation than the distrustful and non-imaginary impasse we are currently locked in, and that colours climate negotiations and much of international debates. And we need different development models that emphasise wellbeing, sufficiency and creativity.

This discussion paper on a *Global Renewable Energy Support Programme* presents one such approach. It is not the single answer – a silver-bullet – to all our problems, but it could, if implemented well, have a considerable impact at several different levels.

- It could provide a roadmap for access to affordable, clean electricity to all the 1.3 billion people currently lacking any access and the more than double who have a bare minimum. It could help promote a new, modern, decentralised energy model where people everywhere – in rural and urban centres – become more closely connected to energy production, and societies everywhere rid themselves of dependence on large, centralised and dirty fossil fuels.
- It could help societies in both North and South to effectively tackle climate change by accelerating the transition to renewable energy. Countries in the global North can get inspired and challenge themselves to redirect their current energy systems (and lessen consumption). Countries in the global South, supported by countries in the global North, can immediately embark on ambitious trajectories towards 100 per cent renewable community-oriented energy, thereby avoiding massive amounts of future emissions.
- It could help rebuild trust between North and South, by providing an example of a truly collaborative scheme with countries of the South in the driving seat. If initiated successfully, it could spur interest in similar bold, visionary public investment approaches in other sectors.

Much is already happening. Several countries, including the Africa Group,¹ are promoting this idea within the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)space. Civil society is increasingly getting interested and is beginning to see this idea as one of the major outcomes of COP21 in Paris a year from now.

Having promoted this idea for several years, it is encouraging to note the interest that is building up, and to help foster the continued elaboration of, and support for, the idea.²

This discussion paper seeks to provide an overview of the various components of the detailed design options to serve as a basis for further discussions. It also seeks to generate further political support so that real action

The Global Renewable **Energy Support** Programme is a bold initiative that emphasises well being, sufficiency and genuine development by simultaneously addressing energy access, climate change and collaboration between North and South The Green Climate Fund should help finance the transition to a renewable energy future in all developing countries and implementation can take place in the months and years to follow.

The paper follows a logic of first outlining the needs and visions, thereafter presenting the modern, decentralised, renewable energy model, highlighting the importance of payment guarantees and feed-in tariffs as key policy tools, and, in the second part, elaborating how international public financing is essential and can be set up to support all developing countries' quest for renewable energy and universal access to electricity. The paper ends with discussions on risks and safeguards, and concrete next steps.

The paper makes an argument at two levels simultaneously. At an overarching level it makes the case for the creation of global partnerships and the need and obligation of rich countries, with the Green Climate Fund as one central component, to finance the leveraging that is needed to enable a renewable energy transition in developing countries. At a more detailed level, it makes a strong case for so called "payment guarantees" and "feed-in tariff" systems to constitute the key policy tools that could drive much of such a transition. "Globally funded feed-in tariffs" or "G-FITS" therefore easily becomes shorthand for what we are presenting, but are clearly a subset of a larger approach.

II. Challenges and vision

ENERGY ACCESS

Energy and electricity access is inherently associated with well-being and development. While a large chunk of world population is grossly overconsuming and wasting energy, an astounding 1.3 billion people have no access to electricity at all. In India alone there are around 72 million households (more than 300 million people) without access to electricity.³ In rural Sub-Saharan Africa only 14 per cent of the population has access to electricity.⁴

Close to three billion people – almost half of the world's population – relies on traditional biomass as a primary source of energy, especially for cooking needs, and have either no or very scattered access to electricity. Current projections show no lessening of this energy deprivation – under "business-as-usual" a similar number of people is expected to continue lacking access to electricity even decades from now.⁵

There are few areas in which global inequalities are as strikingly absurd as in access to energy. The average American citizen consumes 250 times more energy than the citizen of Ethiopia.⁶ A Swede consumes close to 200 times more electricity every day than a Tanzanian.⁷

While access to all forms of energy is of paramount importance, this report focuses particularly on the role of electricity. Access to adequate electricity means that people can have access to the many services most of us take for granted – indoor lighting, health-care, eduation, clean water, entertainment, and mobile phones and other forms of communication. Furthermore, electricity spurs the development of local economy and enterprise.

In addition, access to electricity vastly enhances resilience and capacity for adaptation vis à vis climate change becomes ever more essential as the situation worsens. From an adaptation perspective, access to electricity, particularly locally produced energy that is not vulnerable to centralised networks, is the key.

In short, our goal must be the provision of not only the bare minimum (such as minimum lighting), but round-the-clock supply of clean energy. The UN Sustainable Energy for All (SE4ALL) has formulated goals much less ambitious than these – we argue that anything short of 24/7 access to essential electricity services as outlined is not justifiable. The world must make a much bolder commitment to tackle the lack of access to electricity.

SUFFICIENCY, WELL-BEING AND EQUITY

Yet, we must simultaneously tackle the challenge from the other end. While billions of people need/aspire to increase their energy use manifold, the rich need to scale back energy use significantly, through both increase in energy efficiency and changes in lifestyle and the levels of consumption. The resulting much lower level of energy use needs to be provided as renewable energy.

Ultimately, total primary energy use globally must converge at a level that is reasonable and sufficient – in the order of 50-100 kWh per day per person or less (the area of 'responsible well-being' *See Figure 1*).⁸ This speaks to a need to

The goal is to provide sufficient and clean energy for round-the-clock supply and not just bare minimum lighting





question the currently dominant development models centered on economic growth and ever-expanding trade and consumption as well as a much stronger focus on equity and quality of life.

CLIMATE MITIGATION

Without an unprecedented shift in energy consumption and a transformation of our energy systems, we are sure to cross planetary boundaries and climate tipping points that will spin the planet into catastrophic warming and the breakdown of all societies, in North and South.

A sustainable future means a renewable energy future across the whole planet. Fortunately, a 100 per cent renewable energy future is possible, and carries with it a whole set of other benefits such as job creation, community empowerment, improved health and resilient economies – if carried out in appropriate community-oriented ways. It means ridding countries from dependence on fossil fuels, fluctuating oil prices and the risk of getting locked into stranded assets, i.e., fossil fuel infrastructure, that become impossible or too expensive to use.

Renewable energy exists everywhere and can be tapped by household owners, communities, cooperatives, small and medium enterprises as well as national utilities and companies – thereby creating resilience and undermining the unhealthy concentration of power in today's gigantic fossil fuel corporations.

Responding to climate change goes beyond the enormous challenge of providing good-quality electricity to billions of people. It also means transforming energy supplies for industries, urban areas and the already highconsuming middle class.

The imperative of climate change can help spur – and finance – the transition to decentralised and clean renewable energy in developing countries. Citizens in the global North need to enable a renewable energy revolution in the global South too, if they are to survive the climate crisis.

This report thus argues that a bold approach – a global 'Marshall plan' of sorts – is needed to enable developing countries to leapfrog to a renewable energy future.

The rich industrialised countries, who have caused most of the problem through centuries of emissions – and have the highest capacity to take action through their wealth and technologies – clearly have the largest responsibility to take the lead. \bullet

A 100 per cent renewable energy future is possible and necessary to avoid climate catastrophe

Part 1: Energy models and support schemes at country levels

III: The future energy model – decentralised, distributed and renewable

While the future must be one of ultimately 100 per cent renewable energy, there are different ideas of how to get there, and even more importantly what kinds of energy models are desirable and possible to implement.

There is a clear tendency among both politicians and decision-makers, as well as among large business interests, to promote an extension of the current fossil fuel dominated, centralised, grid-based energy model. This approach imagines a simple swap of centralised energy sources (coal, oil, natural gas, nuclear energy) with another set of large-scale renewable energy sources (large solar power, huge wind farms, large-scale biofuel plantations, large hydro-dams), all connected to the national grids and primarily run by the same oligopolistic large national utilities or large private energy corporations as today.

We argue that this model is flawed, and is neither sustainable nor desirable.

Fossil fuels are highly concentrated sources of energy that are easy to transport and distribute across the globe. Renewable energy cannot be produced in such concentration; it is dispersed by its very nature and thus favours decentralised distribution systems. Energy from sun, wind and small-scale hydro exists everywhere and does not need to get transported across continents. Attempts at producing large quantities of energy at single sources often have serious environmental impacts and require large areas (for solar mirrors and panels, wind farms, dams or biofuel plantations) that clash with local livelihoods and may lead to massive land-grabs. Furthermore, these kinds of large-scale renewable energy sources rely and feed into the national grids, and thus predominantly serve the parts of the populations that are already connected to the grid (with a clear bias to large industries and the well-off in cities).

The tide is turning, however. Increasing numbers of people are realising that the future, modern energy system will be very different from today's centralised energy supply. The future is largely distributed and decentralised renewable energy – both in the global North and South.

The German 'energiewende' provides a glimpse from a Northern perspective. Over the years, Germany has made a remarkable transition towards small-scale power generation with households and communities providing increasing proportions of the energy – both for themselves as well as feeding into the national grid. Consumers are becoming energy producers, and power production has become a local issue. In the South, Mauritius, for instance, provides an encouraging example of a country that has formulated a coherent vision and begun implementing distributed energy solutions as a model.

For countries in the South where access to electricity is a major concern, decentralised approaches that don't rely on the prohibitively expensive extension of the national grid indeed make more sense.⁹

Renewable energy is available everywhere. Therefore, the idea of decentralised distributed generation where people live makes full sense

MINI-GRIDS

A core component of our energy vision is, therefore, the immediate bold expansion of renewable energy **mini-grids** which involve small-scale electricity generation serving a limited number of consumers via a distribution grid that can operate in isolation from national electricity transmission networks. These can be set up in remote rural areas where people would otherwise not get connected for decades. By setting up renewable energy-based mini-grids, one can use the power produced for one's own consumption and distribute to the people who need power in the nearby areas. Such mini-grids supply adequate and reliable energy from a mix of renewable energy sources (solar, wind, small-scale hydro), and serve both public institutions (schools, health clinics etc), local businesses, as well as households that would all be connected together. These mini-grids may expand in generation capacity as demand grows, and may connect to other neighbouring mini-grids and exchange energy as net demand and supply shift back and forth. In some cases they may also connect to the national grid as it gradually expands, while in other cases the mini grids remain 'islands'.¹⁰

Mini-grids – both isolated and connected to the national grid – are quickly being recognised as a key part of the equation.¹¹ Even the International Energy Agency (IEA) anticipates that more than 50 per cent of the rural population

Mini-grids in India

Energy poverty is one of the biggest development challenges India is facing today. India still has around 72 million households (more than 300 million people) that use kerosene for lighting. Out of these, 58 million households belong to six states in India - Uttar Pradesh, Bihar, Jharkhand, Odisha, West Bengal, and Assam. These states are paying huge developmental costs for this energy poverty – education, health and economic development are getting stymied.

In India, the approach towards solving the problem of energy access has been mainly related to extension of the main national grid. However, the flagship scheme - Rajiv Gandhi Grameen Vidyutikaran Yojana (RGGVY) has shown that the answer is not that easy. RGGVY has been very successful in extending the main grid to the villages, but has failed in providing electricity even for six hours a day to those who are connected to the grid.

Mini-grids in India have been looked at as an innovative solution to democratise generation and consumption of power. There are hundreds of renewable energy based mini-grids operating in India, which provide the basic lighting needs to the rural customers for a limited period of time on daily basis. Centre for Science and Environment (CSE) evaluated mini-grids operating in four states – Uttarakhand, Assam, Chhattisgarh and Bihar and found that there were several challenge facing them in fulfilling their potential:

- They often fail to fulfill the aspirational needs of villagers. The power from these mini-grids is available for a limited period per day and is suitable only for basic lighting.
- 2. All mini-grids have been developed on government grants/subsidies, foreign grants or CSR funding.
- Mini-grid developers always fear that their business will be wiped out if the main grid reaches the village. These mini-grids have not been designed to co-exist with the main grid.

CSE has proposed a model that would not only address these challenges, but also ensure that every individual receives at least 10 units of electricity every day. CSE envisions a case where every household which does not have at least 12 hours of electricity (144 million rural households^{*}) would be provided power with mini-grids using solar (50 per cent), biomass (30 per cent) and smallhydro technology (20 per cent) by 2022. Given the fact that solar, biomass and small-hydro operate at a capacity utilization factor of 19 per cent, 65 per cent and 35 per cent respectively, 1,016 GW of solar based mini-grid, 92 GW of biomass based mini-grid and 93 GW of small hydro-based mini-grid with a total capital cost of more than USD two trillion by 2022 is needed.

^{*}Government of India (2011), Lighting in India - Census of India

Mini-grids – both isolated and connected to the national grid – are quickly being recognised as a key part of the equation currently without access to energy is best supplied with electricity via minigrids. With concerted efforts, as outlined here, this share can be much higher.

In most developing countries, mini-grids are already being pursued and experimented with, but largely at the margins.¹² Few, if any, countries have been able to undertake a bold, concerted approach to support wide establishment of mini-grids that could bring electricity to large chunks of their population. We see a clear break of trend though – North and South are beginning to take interest in mini-grids in a very different and favourable light compared to just a couple of years ago.¹³ What is lacking is clear political direction and financial support.

Mini-grids can also play a major role in urban areas. By setting up 'smart' minigrids within cities, different technologies (such as rooftop solar, smaller wind installations, biomass gasification etc.) can support and balance each other, and effectively function as virtual power plants that feed the grid with the electricity that the mini-grid users don't need themselves. Such mini-grids 'within the grid' can be based in neighbourhoods, industry and office clusters, or e.g. university campuses.¹⁴ There is a huge potential for this kind of decentralised virtual power plants to provide significant proportions of countries' energy demands and base loads.

SMALL-SCALE ELECTRICITY GENERATION

Complementing wide establishment of different forms of mini-grids we see an increasing role for **small-scale electricity generation** – i.e. individual households and businesses feeding excess energy into the grid – and drawing on the grid when needed. This has been a significant part of the German model where decentralised renewable energy constitutes 25 per cent of the grid (of which 50 per cent is owned by ordinary citizens). Such "embedded" renewable energy generation can also play a major role also in developing countries, particularly among the relatively well-off urban middle classes. Already, investments in rooftop solar can be a direct saving, but policies need to be established that regulate and facilitate easy entry and guarantee safe investment conditions.¹⁵ With the right policies in place, the number of producers of renewable energy can expand in extraordinary ways.

LARGE-SCALE RENEWABLE ELECTRICITY GENERATION

There is still a case to be made for centralised **large-scale renewable electricity generation.**¹⁶ However, there must be a clear understanding of the reasons for favouring such approaches over the first two kinds of renewable energy generation. We see a need and justification for large-scale generation to feed the few, exceptionally power-hungry industries (e.g. smelters) that may exist in countries, large-scale installations can also help ensure a balance and base load in the grid. However, this kind of installations are only acceptable if they are environmentally and socially appropriate, and do not lead to land-grabs and destruction of local livelihoods, which is often the case.

As a rule of thumb, we suggest these three approaches to renewable energy production be fairly similar in proportion, with an emphasis on the former two, although circumstances will naturally differ between countries.

Central to this vision of a decentralised, distributed energy future is the increased resilience from many small producers, the democratising and empowering role of energy when communities are directly engaged and can have a say in, or even own, their energy production, the lessened dependence





Communities have a large role to play in the future energy models, creating a web of electricity producers and consumers

on risky and dirty fossil fuels, and the dynamic evolution of an energy system that expands from bottom up, with households and communities becoming both producers as well as consumers of energy.

As renewable energy alternatives gain ground, existing fossil fuel and nuclear power generation must be reduced and eventually completely phased out. Current subsidies for these outdated energy sources should be re-directed to help finance the transformation to decentralised renewable energy, although this needs to be pursued in ways that do not hurt the poor people dependent on consumer-oriented subsidies.

IV: How to spur the renewable energy revolution?

How do we attain this energy vision? How do we spur a bottom-up energy revolution at scale?

While a lot is happening on the ground, with a myriad of inspiring, innovative and ground-breaking renewable energy developments, it is clear that the overall speed of transition is too slow, and the prevailing fossil-fuel oriented paradigm still dominates.

It is evidently clear that we need an ambitious and clear-sighted public investment effort. Through well-designed support systems countries can incentivise and make investments in decentralised renewable energy economically feasible, as outlined here. Just like the German "energiewende" has set in motion a new trajectory, all countries must be encouraged and enabled to take bold action.

We suggest that citizens, communities, business and governments in developed countries carefully consider the vision of a decentralised renewable energy system as outlined here, and learn and get inspired by the most successful and bold examples from forerunning countries. Given the scale and urgency of the task, the most efficient and appropriate policy tools must be adopted.

While the policy toolbox is extensive, one set of tools certainly stands out: *payment guarantees/feed-in tariffs*. While there is room and justification for lots of different policies, we are convinced that a broad-based adoption and support for different kinds of payment guarantees and feed-in tariff support systems need to play a central role.¹⁷

The efficiency and effectiveness of such policy tools have been widely documented by numerous studies and evaluations. The IPCC Special Report on Renewable Energy in 2012 concluded

In summary, a number of historical studies, including those carried out for the European Commission, have concluded that well-designed and wellimplemented FITs [Feed-in tariffs] are the most efficient (defined as comparison of total support received and generation cost) and effective (ability to deliver increase in the share of RE [renewable energy] electricity consumed) support policies for promoting RE electricity¹⁸

and furthermore stated

[Renewable energy feed-in tariffs] tend to favour ease of entry, local ownership and control of renewable energy systems...and thus can result in wider public support for renewable energy... Such ease of entry has also proved a powerful means for unleashing capital towards the deployment of renewable energy projects.¹⁹

Today, more than 100 countries spread across both North and South have adopted some kind of payment guarantee/feed-in tariff system.²⁰ It has been estimated that a staggering 64 per cent of global wind installations and 87 per cent of global photovoltaic installed capacity have been driven by feed-in tariff systems.²¹

More than 100 countries across the globe have adopted payment guarantees/ feed-in tariff mechanisms to encourage renewable energy Countries are continuously experimenting and learning how to best design these mechanisms to suit their national contexts and priorities. In some countries in the North, feed-in tariffs have been a key engine to a society-wide, extensive energy transformation. In some countries of the South as well, especially India and China, feed-in tariffs have played a major role in expanding renewable energy. However, in most countries, particularly in the South, feed-in tariffs initiatives have been limited and so far only marginally affected overall development plans and energy trajectories. Furthermore, they have generally been directed to larger, on-grid projects rather than mini-grids and household level support. Yet, it is clear that payment guarantees and feed-in tariffs are policy tools that are appealing to countries, and that many developing countries are craving to scale them up. In Africa, so far only 13 countries are currently running or implementing feed-in tariff systems.²² •

V. What are payment guarantees/feed-in tariffs?

So, what are payment guarantees and feed-in tariffs? How do they work and why are they so effective?

There are many different versions and technical variations but the basic idea remains the same:

GUARANTEED PAYMENTS

Developers of renewable energy installments are **guaranteed payments** that cover the difference between investment costs and the revenue from sales of the energy (at lower, affordable prices for the consumers), with a reasonable premium/profit. These guaranteed payments can be in the form of 'feed-in tariffs' where electricity is passed on to the grid, or 'generation-based incentives' when, for example, electricity is sold to consumers using a standalone mini-grid.

With time, costs of generating power from renewable energy sources decline and the costs of power generated from fossil fuels increase. Renewable energy becomes the default, affordable choice

These payments are guaranteed for a fixed period of 10-20 years, and set so that the developers will be able to cover all their costs (including, e.g. interest rates on initial loans for upfront financing as well as grid construction and training and capacity building). In this way, developers of renewable energy projects (which can be a whole range of actors – from community organisations, cooperatives and local governments to local small and medium enterprises as well as larger corporations and utilities) can proceed with their projects immediately, knowing the investment will be safe as long as they deliver clean and affordable energy.

Ideally, there is no upper limit to how many can join the scheme. As long as projects are sound and fulfill existing criteria (and there are enough funds) developers are welcome to join and are guaranteed the payments (which are essentially well-targeted subsidies). This way, there tends to be an escalation of interest in joining, with more and more actors entering, inspired by seeing others benefitting from the scheme. As costs of renewable energy technologies decrease, the required subsidy for new entries also decreases. Smaller payment





14

guarantees are thus required for new agreements over time, until no cost difference remains, and thus no need for further payment guarantees to incentivise developers to invest in renewable energy projects.

RIGHTS TO FEED IN

These support systems often include a right to feed into another grid (usually the national grid) excess electricity that the producer does not consume him/herself, again at a guaranteed price. This way, renewable energy has priority in the market and producers will know that they can always sell all the energy they deliver, which again provides a secure investment environment. These **feed-in tariffs** mechanisms can be set up in different ways, depending on the particular circumstances of each case. In Germany, it has become very common that individual households produce electricity from solar PV or wind, and generate revenue from selling the energy they don't use themselves through favourable feed-in tariffs to the national grid.

Feed-in tariffs can be applied to mini-grids as well as larger power producers. Mini-grids connected to the national grids can be given the right to sell excess energy through feed-in tariffs, and larger renewable energy power plants can likewise be guaranteed to sell all their production at set prices through other sets of feed-in tariffs. Mini-grids that over time connect with each other can form clusters that exchange electricity amongst themselves depending on current supply and demand, and may eventually connect to the national grid through feed-in tariffs.

Design options for payment guarantees and feed-in tariffs

Countries have taken different approaches when they set up their national payment guarantee/feed-in tariff systems. There is, therefore, considerable scope for learning and refining best practices through enhanced exchange and sharing, not least between countries in the South.

Design elements to consider, and further elaborate, include:

Technology choices: What technologies should be eligible? What technologies are not acceptable? What kinds of technology assessment and participatory processes are needed to ensure only socially and environmentally acceptable technologies are supported?

Size: What size instalments are eligible and do different sizes obtain different amounts of payment guarantees (reflecting that as the size increases, the overall cost of generation generally decreases due to economies of scale).

Scope: Is there any limit to how many new projects/overall funding the national payment guarantee system can accept each year?

Guarantee payment period: For how long will each project receive the guarantee payments/feed-in tariffs?

Typical time periods range from 10 to 20 years. The shorter the time, the larger the payments.

Time period for allowing new entries: For how many years will the overall support scheme exist, i.e., what will be the last opportunity for new entries? This decision may be adjusted over time, and reflect how fast the technology costs decrease. When real costs are less than conventional power (and at affordable levels for consumers) there is no longer need for payment guarantees for new instalments.

Feed-in tariff calculation: Deciding the quantum of support is the most crucial factor. Too little support will make power projects unviable whereas unnecessarily high assistance leads to unacceptable windfall profits to the developers. There are two general approaches: 1) set tariffs based on careful calculations, that are regularly updated and adjusted by the authorities 2) reverse bidding systems where project developers determine what support they need as a minimum and bid accordingly. Both methods have advantages and disadvantages that countries need to consider.

Continued...

Technology-specific tariffs: The size of the payment guarantees is usually technology-specific to allow all eligible technologies to be viable.

Location-specific tariffs: Should the tariffs for different technologies also be location specific? Wind potential is very location specific, and so is solar, which affects efficiency and utilisation. For example, India has different tariffs for wind projects based on the location and wind velocity.

Tariff digression: As the cost of renewable electricity generation is coming down and cost of conventional power likely will go up, each year new entries should be offered lower tariffs/payment guarantees. This can be achieved in two ways — First, once the benchmark is fixed, a percentage can be decided to reduce support every subsequent year. Second, there could be periodic reviews based on actual market conditions to decide how much support will be required.

Electricity charge to the consumers: Countries have different approaches to price setting for electricity. A very low charge will lead to abuse of the costliest energy and a high charge will raise the issue of energy equity and ability of customers to pay higher tariffs. Countries may choose to set justifiable prices for consumers as no more than the cost of alternative fuels or based on monthly expenditures on energy. It is also possible for countries to set differentiated electricity charges, where low consumption is cheap, and increasing consumption levels get more expensive.

Source of financing: The prevailing model of feed-in tariffs passes on the costs of the tariffs on all energy

consumers, essentially cross-subsidising renewable energy. While a viable model in rich countries, such a financing model cannot drive wide deployment in poor countries and does not work at all for isolated mini-grids, hence the need for a central fund and international financing. Countries may, however, provide different proportions of the required funding from their own means.

Purchase obligations: It is essential that developers are confident they will be able to sell the electricity they produce. For grid-connected instalments, there needs to be purchase obligations and regulations that provide a legal right to feed in to the grid. For isolated mini-grids, there may or may not be purchase obligations of excess electricity. There must also be clarity that they can feed into the grid on favourable terms if it arrives.

Local content: Enhancement of local manufacturing capacity of renewable energy instalments should be integral to the support schemes. Countries may choose different ways to encourage this, ranging from quotas to differentiation of tariff levels and other means.

Local ownership: Local ownership of renewable energy instalments is generally beneficial, and can be promoted through a range of means – from active advice and support to legal requirements.

Energy efficiency: The renewable energy that is produced is a precious resource that cannot be squandered away. Different kinds of energy efficiency requirements, rules and incentives should be made integral to the electricity generation provision.



UPFRONT FINANCING

The guaranteed payments provide by their very nature a sound and safe basis for investments and generally facilitate the obtaining of credit to cover initial, upfront investment costs. A robust nationally based feed-in tariff system as guarantee can often enable credit from commercial financing institutions on quite favourable terms (and with international, UN-based funding backing these national systems, it should be even more favourable). However, countries Payment guarantees and feed-in tariffs are result-based and spread over the whole or large part of the lifetime of a renewable installation may also opt to set up public, government based favourable soft-loans to facilitate up-front financing in order to streamline and scale up investments. In cases and for actors who may have difficulties obtaining commercial credit, government soft loans, grants, capital subsidies, development aid and other kinds of grants and support can also provide the necessary upfront costs.

Contrary to policy tools such as capital subsidies, payment guarantees/feed-in tariffs are result-based and spread over the whole or large part of the lifetime of the renewable energy installation. This lessens the risk of projects not getting set up or resources disappearing along the way: the developer must quickly get the system in place to begin delivering electricity; only then will the user tariffs and the payment guarantees be trickle in to cover the initial loans.

The support is directly tied to the successful delivery of clean and affordable electricity, which also has the tremendous benefit of clearly showing to those who provide the funds how the money is spent, and what are the direct benefits.

In practice, particularly for resource-poor developers, such as low-income communities, there can be a mix of both grants for parts of the upfront financing, as well as the 10-20 year guaranteed payments.

Clearly, different payment guarantees/feed-in tariff arrangements can be applied in a country to simultaneously stimulate the development of mini-grids, embedded production as well as large-scale single point generation (where the last category, in all likelihood, needs this kind of support the least).

VI. Benefits of payment guarantees/feed-in tariffs

In summary, payment guarantees/feed-in tariffs have a number of clear benefits and design elements that make them stand out.

- They have proven to be effective; this is no risky experiment with unknown outcomes. They rely on the most effective and efficient policy tools we have.
- There is no upper limit to achievements (unlike, e.g., quotas), but rather around crowding in of participants in the schemes. Their success generates further interest and a snowballing effect.
- They are time bound public investment interventions over a set period of time to solve a specific problem. The investments redefine economic realities to deliberately create vastly more favourable conditions for future investments.
- Public investment through the payment guarantees is a marginal cost that leverages much larger public and private investments on the whole. The support scheme tilts the balance and makes renewable energy investments viable and attractive.

Payment guarantees/ feed-in tariffs are the most effective and efficient policy tools we can rely on

- They are results-based and measurable by their very design, rather than externally imposed "Monitoring Recording and Verification" obligations.
- Affordability and access to electricity is at the core. As prices for consumers are delinked from the actual production costs, prices for consumers can be differentiated depending on levels of consumption, and kept affordable. It is even possible to cross-subsidise within the scheme so that well-off, high-usage consumers effectively support the poorer, low consuming ones.
- It is a common sense public investment effort that in addition could spur corresponding action in other areas (e.g. housing and public transport). •

Part 2: International financing

The renewable energy revolution may already be underway. Over the last few years we have seen costs for renewable energy technologies rapidly decrease and investment in it grow. Investments in renewable energy amounted to USD 212 billion in 2013 and constituted 43 per cent of new installed electricity capacity (excluding large dams). Installation of solar photovoltaics continue to rapidly increase in number while dropping in price.²³

We are seeing a positive spiral of rapidly reducing costs of renewable technologies, which accelerates investments that in turn press down technology costs further.

However, despite these positive trends we must realise two things:

- The transition to renewable energy is still way **too slow and modest**. Renewable energy contributed only 22.1 per cent (out of which 16.4 per cent is hydro-power) of the total power generation in the world in 2013²⁴ and the world's fuel consumption is dominated by fossil fuels about 86.7 per cent.²⁵ Furthermore, in 2013, for the first time ever renewable energy investments in developing countries decreased compared to the previous year.
- Developing countries experience **fundamental financial bottlenecks** in doing the right thing. While they can and should cross-subsidise and pass on the costs to the wealthier and high-consuming parts of the population, contrary to Northern countries, this will not suffice to fully finance an energy transformation of this scale. Furthermore, to cater to small-scale, community-oriented energy, there are fixed costs associated with training, capacity and participatory decision-making and governance that are not affected by reduced costs in hardware and call for additional targeted financial support.

To rectify the first point, all countries must do their utmost to set in place the most potent regulations and incentives (such as payment guarantee systems) to spur renewable energy investments while simultaneously stopping further fossil fuel investments, begin shifting fossil fuel subsidies and, particularly in developed countries, begin to decommission existing plants before their lifetime is over.²⁶

To address the second point, we must create partnerships across North and South and set in place a well-designed, substantial international finance mechanism to enable the kind of renewable energy future as outlined here. This is precisely the kind of transformative solutions the Green Climate Fund was set up to enable.

Renewable energy transition is slow and modest and suffers from severe financial impediments

VII. Who should pay?

NATIONAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The principle of "common but differentiated responsibility and respective capabilities" (CBDR-RC) that is enshrined in not only the UNFCCC but all of the Rio sustainable development outcomes is crystal clear: developed countries, who largely created the problem of climate change in the first place, and furthermore have the largest financial and technological capacity to take action, must take the lead. More specifically, article IV of the convention makes it clear that developed countries must, in addition to their own rapid emissions reductions, cover the incremental costs associated with both emissions reductions (mitigation) and adaptation in developing countries.

For developed countries, this means a transformation of their societies' energy, transportation, housing and industrial systems at a scale and speed never seen before . Developed countries must immediately begin investments plans for a transition to 100 per cent renewable energy future, prepare for decommissioning of existing fossil fuel plants, and stop investment plans for new, dirty fossil fuels and nuclear energy. Likewise, stringent energy efficiency standards, housing standards and massive expansion of public transportation are necessary.

Yet, this is not enough to prevent catastrophic warming. To keep within a (still very risky) two-degree emissions budget, most developing countries will need to peak their emissions with a lag of just one to two decades, and then embark on about as steep reduction curves as developed countries – while still needing to expand energy use, and with most infrastructure still yet to be built. This is utterly unfair, but the inescapable reality of climate change. The atmospheric space that developing countries should be entitled on equity has already been consumed by the rich countries.

On grounds of both equity and necessity, developed countries must, therefore, in addition to the most radical emissions reductions conceivable within their own countries, make possible for own countries, and enable developing countries to forgo fossil fuel based development trajectories, and thereby avoid otherwise quickly growing future emissions. This means, among other things, that they will have to enable socially and environmentally appropriate renewable energy to be the default choice in all developing countries.

How much each country should contribute to and receive from climate financing is at the core of current debates and negotiations on equity, effort sharing and differentiation.

Regardless of what exact formula or metric one applies, it is clear that the scale of financing needed to make it possible to keep within the risky two-degree budget vastly exceeds what is currently being discussed and pledged.

A robust fair shares framework that considers historical responsibility and current capacity for all countries applied on a two-degree emissions budget generates the graphs in Figure 4.²⁷ For example, even if EU would significantly increase its mitigation ambition and reduce emissions *within* EU (no offsets) by 70 per cent by 2030, EU's fair share means it also, on top of this, needs to enable twice this amount of emissions reductions to take place in developing

Developed countries must, in addition to the most radical emissions reductions conceivable at home, make possible for the developing countries to forgo fossil fuels





Source: Ecoequity and Stockholm Environment Institute

countries. A substantial part of this commitment would need to constitute financing for a transformation towards renewable energy in countries of the global South. In addition to this, financing for adaptation must also be made available at similar or larger scale.

Conversely, for a least developed country such as Nepal, almost all the emissions reductions from a business-as-usual trajectory would need to be financed by other countries. More wealthy developing countries with their relatively high emissions, such as South Africa, would also be entitled to considerable financial support, but need to fund a substantial part of the reductions on their own.

The exact metric and formula for determining what proportion of countries either receive support for, or contribute to, the energy transformations in developing countries will need to reflect outcomes of the general equity negotiations. It is, for example, reasonable to also take into consideration factors such as countries' current rate of access to electricity, electrification, ecological footprint and human development indicators.

These discussions on how to operationalise equity will need to be deliberated upon and determined once the global support mechanism is up and running and increasing numbers of developing countries are requesting support. Most important, at this early stage, is to set the scheme in motion by substantial commitments from one or several developed countries as a clear response to the calls from African and other developing countries that are already being voiced.

More wealthy developing nations would be entitled to considerable financial support, but would need to fund part of reductions on their own

INTERNATIONAL FINANCING

In addition to direct, assessed contributions by individual countries, there is also considerable scope for international taxation and other innovative sources, as long as these are pursued in respect of CBDR-RC.

By establishing an international financial transaction tax, USD 650 billion per year could be raised from the financial markets without any noticeable negative impact, and with the added benefits of slowing down speculation and risks of financial bubbles.²⁸

Another potential source of substantial funding is the IMF Special Drawing Rights which could be used to make available considerable funds for the common good. It should be possible to make available over USD 100 billion without affecting inlfation.²⁹

VIII. How much support is needed?

CSE and What Next are currently deliberating and pursuing work to estimate both funding as well as training/capacity building and technology access needs according to different approaches and levels of ambition.

Naturally, funding needs will begin modestly and increase as more countries decide to join and request support through Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions (NAMAs).

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UN-DESA) made a rough estimate of USD 100-150 billion per year for a full-fledged feed-in tariff support system when they launched the idea of globally funded feed-in tariffs in their report "World Social and Economic Survey 2009: Promoting Development – Saving the Planet" as a direct input to COP15 in Copenhagen.

A subsequent study by UN-DESA in 2010 estimated costs for a programme of globally funded feed-in tariffs that would serve all developing countries immediately and provide all their citizens with a minimum of 10 kWh per day.³⁰ Based on renewable energy cost levels at the time, the study landed at similar average cost levels as earlier, recognising that during the peak year, significantly higher sums would be required, with costs quickly falling after the peak (and costs climbing steadily from zero to peak over the first 15 years). Requirements at peak would correspond to approximately twice the current level of foreign aid, and indicates how the scheme would be a significant undertaking, indeed a "Marshall plan".

However, during the six years that have passed since Copenhagen, the costs of renewable energy technologies have decreased considerably. While the financial bottleneck is significant, overall financing needs may be smaller. One should also note that some of the costs would be carried out by developing countries themselves.

While it may be difficult to gain a firm commitment to this kind of long-term financing immediately, we are convinced that as the support scheme gets set up and running, proves itself, and has increasing number of developing countries request to join, financial commitments from developed countries will be ratcheted up.

A 20-40 year transition that relies to a large extent on payment guarantees as outlined in this report (10-20 years during which energy developers are invited to enter agreements thatensure payment guarantees) will have a front-loaded finance requirement curve. Financing requirements will peak relatively early and taper off very quickly towards the end (at which point only late entries remain and their subsidies will have been much reduced due to falling costs. See Figure 5).

This is a logical and sound approach: genuine investments early on helps bend the curve and avoid much costlier actions later, thereby freeing up climate finance for adaptation needs over time as the effects of climate change get increasingly serious.

Furthermore, the programme is time-limited. After the 20-40 year period there will be no more (or very little) need for continued support. By then costs for

Genuine investments early on will help bend the curve and avoid much costlier actions later, thereby freeing up climate finance for adaptation renewable energy will likely be lower than today's cost of fossil fuels and the default, affordable choice also without incentives such as payment guarantees. Developing countries will be on track towards becoming fully renewable energy using societies.

This cost reduction will also significantly benefit developed countries in their transition to renewable energy. Northern countries such as Poland, which is almost completely dependent on coal, will undergo a much cheaper transition as renewable energy technologies become the cheapest, default choice. Policymakers in the North can legitimately explain to their taxpayers that the climate finance supporting developing countries' renewable energy also transition is real а investment for their own countries' transition.



Furthermore, the support scheme as outlined here is a

Subsidy disbursement schedule

perfect example of how limited public funding can effectively leverage much larger sums of both public and private investment. The guarantee payments are the marginal inputs that are needed to tilt the balance and catalyse large sums of investment flows to renewable energy rather than fossil fuels.

While the financial requirements may appear high at first glance, they also help inform the overall climate finance discussions which have now become stuck in a highly unambitious and muddled conversation around USD 100 billion a year by 2020 as a combination of public and private contributions. Looking back to COP15 in Copenhagen, G77 called for 1.5 per cent of developed countries GDP in public finance which corresponds to USD 600 billion a year. The Africa group demanded five per cent which corresponds to approximately USD 2000 billion a year. It may also help in putting the investment needs in perspective with other expenditures. For example, during 2014, global ice-cream sales amounted to USD 50 billion, and 2014 world military expenditures to USD 1,739 billion. In 2009, the bank CEO bonuses accounted for USD 32 billion³¹ even in the midst of the financial crisis. Government banks' bailout and support to the financial system during the crisis has been estimated at a staggering USD 16 trillion.³²

After 20-40 years, there may no longer be a requirement of payment guarantees for renewable energy

IX. A global financing scheme through the Green Climate Fund

How can a global support mechanism be set up and implemented? How can considerable sums of climate finance be channeled to real projects on the ground that truly benefit communities and foster people's control of their energy? Money and finance needs to be complemented by training, institutions, continuous learning and improvement of the scheme through true partnerships. How can we ensure only environmentally, socially and culturally appropriate renewable energy projects are supported?

While the support mechanism will require some new institutional set-ups, we believe this can be achieved thorugh meagre methods. We can build on existing institutions to a considerable extent.

At *national* levels one *Central government authority/agency* with a coordinating role that also works as an interface vis à vis the Green Climate Fund (GCF) needs to be identified. In many countries these institutions already exist, in other countries new institutions may be set up. Ideally, countries would inscribe their intentions to initiate or scale up payment guarantee/feed-in tariff systems in their Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions (NAMAs) plans.

At the global financing level we suggest making use of the newly established *Green Climate Fund*. The proposed support mechanism fits perfectly with all the different criteria and goals of the GCF. If the fund can be made to operate in a manner that ensures a focus on distributed, decentralised renewable energy with environmental integrity, it should be a main source of funding.

Existing *UN and other institutions* can be drawn on for technical and detailed work, e.g. the UN Climate Technology Centre and Network (CTCN) and International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA).

Civil society and community organisations as well as renewable energy **business associations** need to be deeply involved in the whole chain of activities – from needs assessments and planning to implementation and continuous learning.

In addition to all this, we propose that a *new coordinating body* eventually be set up. This institution can be designed and placed in a variety of ways, but must be fully accountable to the UNFCCC and its principles of CBDR-RC.

NATIONAL AUTHORITIES/AGENCIES

Different countries have different institutional set-ups for managing energy, including renewable energy. In some countries specific ministries and government agencies handle all energy related matters. In other countries there is a division of responsibility. In India, for example, there is both a Ministry of New and Renewable Energy and a Ministry of Power dealing with on-grid energy; both catering to rural electrification.

A global programme must not only respect this diversity but also encourage extensive and continuous South-South exchange and learning to encourage countries to refine and evolve their systems over time in the best possible ways.

Implementation of the support mechanism can be achieved through meagre methods, largely building on existing institutions

Even with separate ministries/authorities within countries, it makes sense to

National strategies and assessments should involve social movements, civil society, academics, and industry along with the relevant government agencies have one designated, coordinating authority to handle all the financial flows between international and national level mechanisms for disbursement of different kinds of payment guarantees and other support.

For some developing countries it would make more sense to use already established entities, while for others it may make sense to set up a new 'National Renewable Energy Access Agency'. In countries where there is an institutional division between off-grid and on-grid energy, there is a need of coordination to ensure the country as a whole requests financial support with a sensible balance between off-grid and on-grid energy, and there is a clear focus on the community. We suggest that as rule of thumb at least 2/3 of the global financing be devoted to support distributed solutions such as the minigrids and small-scale electricity installments described earlier. The proportion devoted to off-grid solutions will necessarily vary from country to country, since electrification rates and national grid connections vary vastly between developing countries (from a few per cent to almost universal connection). In countries with a high proportion of the population without electricity and grid connection, most financial support should be devoted to catering to their needs.

NATIONAL STRATEGIES, NEEDS ASSESSMENTS AND PARTICIPATION

To ensure success, sustainability, and truly distributed, decentralised renewable energy solutions broad-based approaches involving all relevant stakeholders must be implemented. We suggest that as a prerequisite for

Figure 6: Institutional set-up for the mechanism



From Reclaiming Power: An energy model for people and the planet. Friends of the Earth EWNI (2012).

funding, countries preparing national strategies, needs and technology assessments should involve social movements, civil society organisations, local governments, small and medium enterprises, the academic community, larger utilities and power providers as well as relevant government ministries and agencies. How these processes are conducted and set up may differ between countries, but should be enhanced and facilitated through a concerted global effort to share best practices, experiences and approaches. There needs to be particular emphasis on community control of energy solutions as well as technology assessments to ensure only environmentally and socio-culturally acceptable renewable energy technologies are supported. It would be highly desirable to connect these processes to the on-going discussions around technology facilitation and technology assessments that are now being conducted in the General Assembly as a direct outcome of the Rio +20 negotiations.

CAPACITY BUILDING

Local-level capacity building is essential and has the benefit of bringing down medium-term project costs at a far greater rate than technological development.³³ Yet, training and capacity building carries fixed costs in the early stages and must be factored into the overall project costs to be covered. Experience has shown that it is essential that projects are locally ground for them to be successful. It will take considerable time and effort to engage with communities, formulate shared visions and enhance peoples' capacity to become active participants in the design, operations and management of their energy systems. As renewable energy investments spread, the scope for local as well as regional exchange of experiences and best practices increases. It is also essential that there are efforts and support to build local and domestic capacity to manufacture renewable technologies – and to contest any trade rules that prevent preferential support.

RISKS AND SAFEGUARDS

Like with any other scheme, there are associated risks in this mechanism. In the case of payment guarantees/feed-in tariffs, the policy tool is very potent, with misuse potentially more harmful. Unless the support programmes are planned and implemented in appropriate ways, there is a risk of:

- Promoting socially and environmentally harmful technologies
- Increasing inequity and disrupting well-functioning communities
- Facilitating land-grab and concentration of power
- Opening the door for undue foreign investments and foreign control of local resources
- Setting in motion 'development' that leads to harmful overconsumption and reduced well-being
- Disproportionate promotion of large-scale technologies and grid-centered approaches
- Corruption
- Too fast roll-out. Lack of appropriate capacity-building and local grounding, acceptance and participation
- Wrong indicators promoting wrong action

Safeguards must be deliberated upon and put in place from the outset, with civil society involvement from the very beginning. Approaches building on, for example the experience of The Forestry Law Enforcement, Governance and Trade Action Plan may be of relevance.³⁴

THE PRIVATE SECTOR AND COMMUNITIES

There must be a broad understanding of the many different roles and forms of private sector engagements. Our model strongly emphasises the importance of locally based private sector actors and recognises the importance of community organisations and cooperatives as primary initiators and managers of energy initiatives in many areas. In other places, local social entrepreneurs as well as national small and medium enterprises play key roles. The financial support is not intended, however, to facilitate foreign direct investments and opening of markets for large corporations from donor countries.

Financing of decentralised, communityoriented renewable energy fits the main criteria of the Green Climate Fund perfectly

THE UNFCCC TECHNOLOGY MECHANISMS

The UN Climate Technology Centre and Network (CTCN) and the Technology Executive Committee (TEC) have recently been set up as the technology mechanisms under UNFCCC, with a particular role of supporting and advising developing countries in technology related matters. They should ideally play an important role in helping to set up and develop the proposed mechanisms.

THE GREEN CLIMATE FUND

The decision to establish GCF was made at COP16 in Cancun 2010. During subsequent negotiations, the governing instrument for the fund has been deliberated upon and a secretariat set up in Songdo, South Korea.³⁵ As of October 2014, the fund is operational and, in principle, able to both receive and

Developing countries can now approach GCF with proposals to fund national systems for supporting renewable energy-based mini-grids disburse funds. The fund is in its initial resource mobilisation phase, with approximately USD 10 billion pledged for 2015-2018 at the recent pledging meeting in Berlin on 20-21 November 2014. A formal replenishment process will commence once 60 per cent of these initial pledges have been received. The process of accrediting the national, regional and international entities that will disburse GCF resources is now open, and it is expected that the Fund will start to consider proposals by June 2015.

Financing of decentralised, community-oriented renewable energy fits the main criteria of the fund perfectly. According to the GCF, governing instrument the GCF's vision is to "Promote a paradigm shift towards low-emission and climate-resilient development" and "Induce a change in daily decisions investors and consumers make", i.e., to finance projects and programmes with a transformational and systemic impact. The funding is supposed to be guided by the potential impact, possibility of paradigm shift, prospective sustainable development benefits, the needs of the recipient, country ownership and its efficiency and efficacy.

National payment support mechanisms/feed-in tariff systems tick all these boxes. They are fully nationally owned initiatives, responding to very clear public finance bottlenecks to enable leveraging of much larger investments, cater to the demonstrably most efficient and effective policy tools for renewable energy scaleup, adheres as much to real development needs as climate concerns, and are geared to a paradigmatic transformation of energy systems of developing countries.

They also adhere to the notion of developing country "direct access" while being, by design, results-based in that all electricity is measured, payments are made upon delivery of the electricity, and both access to electricity and avoided emissions are possible to calculate precisely. As the GCF's 'investment framework' and 'performance measurement' are still under negotiation, it would make sense for countries to ensure these are made as conducive as possible to the proposed support mechanism.

Nothing prevents national renewable agencies or other government bodies from rightaway seeking accreditation as 'implementing entities' of the GCF, and to subsequently present bold proposals to fund national systems as outlined in this report. In fact, this may be one of the most useful actions developing countries could take in the lead-up to Paris as a way of taking leadership and generating further momentum for real action.

GUIDING PRINCIPLES FOR THE GCF IN RELATION TO ENERGY SUPPORT

A number of prerequisites and principles should define the GCF's activities in relation to energy support as outlined in this report.

- The support for the payment guarantee subsidies must be **fully grantsbased**, in line with the thrust of climate finance and the UNFCCC convention (article IV). These subsidies constitute the incremental investments that leverage and redirect much larger overall investments into appropriate renewable energy (and ensure that any initial loans/credits will be possible to pay back).
- Depending on circumstances, GCF may be requested to also provide means for **up-front financing** for the initial construction of the installations. Such funds may be in the form of concessional loans (which could also be

Is there a role for GCF Private Sector Facility (PSF)?

During the operationalisation of the GCF, countries have agreed to set up a special Private Sector Facility of the GCF. These negotiations have been challenging, and much remains to be done to bring clarity to exactly how and for what the PSF will function. The possibility of channeling fund through PSF for renewable energy investment (such as support for national feed-in tariff systems) has been proposed by some actors.³⁶

While recognising this as one possible option, we caution against focusing on PSF as the main delivery channel. We maintain that the main thrust of governance for the suggested global support scheme cannot be under a private sector-only entity, but must be under GCF and the UNFCCC more broadly. While many of the individual projects that will ultimately be supported by the payment guarantees will be carried out by different kind of private sector actors (including cooperatives, community organisations, and small and medium enterprises) many will also be carried out by public sector entities such as local governments, municipalities and state utilities. Furthermore, all the funding from the GCF to developing countries will go through the publicly governed national coordinating entity, which in turn channels funds to both private and public project developers.

There is currently no clarity as to what the PSF should do. We maintain that, in agreement with civil society and the goverments of the developing countries, the PSF should be supporting small and medium enterprises within developing countries (not be an investment vehicle for foreign corporations to enter developing country markets); that it should be under the same overall governance structures and principles as the rest of the GCF; and that it should have clear local development objectives and actively contribute to enhanced local/national capacity to manufacture and develop appropriate technologies and solutions. It should not drive foreign investments, and it should not be a tool for risky financial speculation to generate increased funding through financial markets as some have proposed.

Given these uncertainties, to use the PSF for the kinds of community-centered renewable energy investments we propose here would be very risky. Only when the PSF has been clearly defined and made operational according to the points above, can it possibly play a role. But even under such scenarios it would necessarily have a limited role; the main thrust should be placed on the main mitigation window of GCF. Decisions whether to fund countries' national payment guarantee/feed-in tariffs schemes should not be handled by the PSF alone.

obtained through commercial banks/credit institutions, government or development banks depending on country contexts and the standing of individual developers).

• While having considerable development and resilience and adaptation cobenefits, these support schemes are mitigation actions at the core, and should therefore only draw the 50 per cent share of GCF financing that is intended to be allocated to **mitigation**.

Structures and rules must be set up with a particular emphasis on local and communitybased entities within both the public and private sectors

- The approval of funds must include firm, **guaranteed commitments** for funding over the 10-20 years that the developing countries in turn guarantee the renewable energy developers in their countries. This means that replenishment of the GCF needs to be guaranteed over time, and not be vulnerable to donor governments failing to keep their commitments, e.g., through guarantees coupled to IMF Special Drawing Rights.
- None of the avoided emissions made possible by such schemes can be sold as **carbon credits**. The GCF is a means to support developing country mitigation and adaptation, not mitigation for the developed countries (which is what off-sets are). Selling the mitigation achievements would also mean obtaining double funding for the same thing – both through the grantsbased tariff support and the offsets. In addition, given the drastic emissions reductions that need to take place *within* developed countries (while supporting developing country mitigation), there is no room for offsets

Forerunning countries in both North and South can take a lead by concrete, joint formulation of principles and working models anymore. Maximum reductions need to take place both through domestic action by developed countries and international support.

- A diversity of actors/investors within developing countries must be targeted through the schemes. Structures and rules must be set up with a particular emphasis on local and community-based entities within both the public and private sectors including community organisations, cooperatives, small and medium enterprises and municipalities/local governments.
- Monitoring and evaluation criteria must reflect multiple benefits, and thus broaden the currently narrow array of **indicators** that guides GCF.³⁷
- **Participation and technology assessment** must be assured, to ensure that the renewable energy investments are not leading to new problems.
- Funding must be able to cover costs for **capacity building**, training and other needs that are essential for long-term success,

NEW, COORDINATING BODY

Over time, it would likely be useful to set up a new coordinating body to effectively handle and streamline an increasing number of requests from developing countries to have similar schemes funded.

We suggest such a body – a 'Renewable Energy Investment/Partnership Board' be eventually established by a UNFCCC COP decision, and placed as a separate entity spanning/bridging the GCF, technology and capacity-building mechanisms as well as the Workstream 1 (post 2020-actions) and Workstream 2 (pre 2020-actions) under the Durban Platform. This board should be governed by a majority of the representatives of the developing countries, including renewable energy experts (with a particular emphasis on expertise in decentralised, distributed energy models, and payment guarantee/feed-in tariff systems) and should also include representatives of civil society.³⁸ The Board would have several tasks:

- To set up and adhere to guiding principles (listed already)
- To facilitate sharing of experiences and active encouragement of developing countries to consider establishing various RE support mechanisms through multi-stakeholder engagement.³⁹
- To handle and assess requests of developing countries, including dialogue on, and facilitation of, South-South exchange to further enhance proposals.
- Allocate funds for renewable energy investments from available funds within the GCF mitigation window, according to clearly defined equity formula/principles (listed later).
- Request and argue for additional GCF funds (directly from GCF as well as contributing countries) when requests of developing countries exceed existing funds.
- Evaluate and follow-up on-going funding through qualitative engagement as well as a set of appropriate criteria and results-based indicators.

We realise it would be difficult to immediately negotiate terms for such a new body under the convention. We rather propose that a number of forerunning, progressive countries in both North and South take initiative to set this kind of approach in motion by concrete, joint formulation of principles and working modes that can serve as templates for later institutionalisation.

X: What next – moving forward

The idea of a renewable energy partnership that funds decentralised renewable energy in the global South is one of the few really promising initiatives within current climate politics – with major resonance both within the formal negotiations as well as on the ground, among social movements and civil society.

A considerable momentum is building up, with several countries taking the lead. Most notably, the Africa Group has taken a strong leadership. The group made a formal submission to UNFCCC on 31 May 2014,⁴⁰ calling for the establishment of a global Renewable Energy Partnership, explicitly highlighting the promises of globally funded feed-in tariffs. The group is also proposing further strengthening of the 'Workstream 2' process and the establishment of a Technical Experts Process (TEP) under the pre-2020 negotiations of the Durban Platform, where this idea has already been discussed under the 'Technical Experts Meetings' and generated considerable enthusiasm.

An increasing number of developing countries is starting to see the attractive potential and attractiveness of a transformed energy system, not in the least how decentralised, people-oriented mini-grids could bring substantial, desirable change that promotes development and well-being for large sections of their population.

Correspondingly, there is an increasing buzz among civil society, both climate justice and mainstream environmental organisations. This momentum must be kept and significantly boosted between now and Paris. The establishment of a decentralised renewable energy support mechanism as outlined in this report could become a leading unifying call for solutions by civil society in the leadup to COP21.

As the formal negotiations towards COP21 in Paris are riddled with challenges and distrust between rich and poor countries, the promotion of a Global Renewable Energy Partnership as outlined in this report could be the most tangible and positive outcome of the negotiations.

In fact, it is difficult to imagine significant progress in the UNFCCC negotiations without breakthroughs in the form of concrete, collaborative and substantial initiatives like this. Only real commitments with real financing and genuine ambition will start to abate the existing deep-rooted mistrust. The present promising initiative by the Africa Group matched by commitments from progressive developed countries could therefore also be a key to unlock broader progress in the UN negotiations.

In concrete terms, forerunning developing countries that seek support are encouraged to formulate investment plans for how to end energy poverty in their countries and inscribe these in their NAMAs, explicitly calling for support through the kinds of mechanisms presented here. The investment plan should detail the incentives that the countries want to offer to enhance investment in renewable energy and mini-grids in particular. It should also show how much of it would be based on payment guarantees/feed-in tariffs, whether support would also be lent to grid extension and large-grid connected projects, how much capital subsidy (if any) would be dispensed and what criterion the disbursals would be based on. Moreover, there should be details on how appropriate safeguards and processes to ensure substantial participation by a multitude of stakeholders – civil society, communities, business – will be ensured. In order to formulate such investment plans it would likely be of great value to exchange experiences and ideas across developing countries through various South-South collaborations and exchange.

To get the idea rolling and tested, it is also possible to conceive of a smaller demonstration initiative where one or several developed countries set up a trust fund, with criteria and principles developed in collaboration with one or several developing countries. Such an initiative could be a precedent for expanded action, which in a later step could be moved into UNFCCC and the GCF.

Whichever approach is taken, the time for moving this bold, visionary idea to real action and implementation is now. This kind of transformative public investment approach can set a pathway for decisive action in many other areas and show the power of action for the public good.

References

- Nafo, H A (2014), A global partnership to support renewable energy feed-in tariffs and other incentives to accelerate the energy transformation, protect the climate, and provide clean energy to all people, in Tackling the Challenge of Climate Change: A nearterm actionable mitigation agenda, http://aosis.org/documents/tackling-climate-change/
- Banuri, T and N Hallstrom (2012), 'A global programme to tackle energy access and climate change' What Next Volume III: Climate, Development and Equity. www.whatnext.org/ resources/ Publications/Volume-III/Single- articles/ wnv3_ banuri_hallstrom_144.pdf for an earlier outlining the idea of a global support scheme for national feed-in tariffs.
- Government of India (2011), Census of India, 2011, http://censusindia.gov.in/ 4. International Energy Agency (2014),World Africa Energy Outlook 2014, Paris, France
- 4. International Energy Agency (2014), *Africa Energy Outlook 2014*, Paris, France
- 5. International Energy Agency (2013), *World Energy Outlook 2013*, Paris, France
- 6. Average US citizen 13,246 units of electricity as compared to 52 units of an Ethiopian citizen
- 7. International Energy Agency (2013), *World Energy Outlook 2013*, Paris, France
- Castro-Sitiriche, Marcel J, Luis Jiménez-Rodríguez; (2014) "Responsible Wellbeing and Energy Threshold", ETHOS Gubernamental: Revista del Centro para el Desarrollo del Pensamiento Ético, Oficina de Ética Gubernamental, No. VII, San Juan, Puerto Rico, p. 64-126, ISSUU
- Alliance for Rural Electrification (ARE) (2011), Rural Electrification with Renewable Energy: Technologies, quality standards and business models. http://www.ruralelec.org/fileadmin/ DATA/Documents/06_Publications/ARE_TECHNOL OGICAL_PUBLICATION.pdf
- 10. The Mini-grid Policy Toolkit (2014). The publication contains information on mini-grid models, their economics, and necessary policy and regulation that must be considered for successful implementation. The publication specifically focuses on Africa. http://www.ren21.net/Portals/0/documents/Resourc es/MGT/MinigridPolicyToolkit_Sep2014_EN.pdf
- 11. World Bank (2014), From the Bottom Up: How Small Power Producers and Mini-Grids Can Deliver Electrification and Renewable Energy in Africa, https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/ handle/10986/16571/9781464800931.pdf?sequence =1

- 12. CSE (2014), Sustainable mini-grid for energy access a report by Centre for Science and Environment, India that maps renewable energy mini-grids in India and outlines a new mini-grid model.
- Africa Minigrid Summit, held in Nairobi 18-19 November, http://www.magenta-global.com. sg/ africa-mini-grids-summit-2014/
- 14. Bischof-Niemz, Tobias (2014), Council of Scientific and Industrial Research's Energy-Autonomous Campus, Presentation at the Africa Mini-grids Summit, 19 November, 2014
- 15. Bischof-Niemz, Tobias (2013), How to stimulate the South African rooftop PV market without putting municipalities' financial stability at risk: A "Net Feed-in Tariff" proposal, *Presentation*, SAPVIA networking event in Johannesburg, South Africa
- 16. Centralised, on-grid large installments can be supported through feed-in tariffs. In Uganda, the government has a feed-in tariff, which is set too low. In order to make investments more attractive the Deutsche Bank in collaboration with DFID and KfW are conducting a 'Get Fit' pilot where the feed-in tariff is topped up with an additional tariff as well as risk guarantees (supported by German, Norwegian, UK and Ugandan governments and World Bank). While an interesting experiment, what we propose is a more systemic and bold approach, where the original feed-in tariff can be set at a correct level from the start and where focus is on decentralised, distributed solutions and off-grid needs.
- Menadonça, M et al (2010), Powering the Green Economy: The Feed-in Tariff Handbook, London: Earthscan for extensive accounts of different feed-in tariff approaches and their merits and shortcomings. See also UNEP, 2012. Feed-in Tariffs as a policy instrument for promoting renewable energies and green economies in developing countries.
- IPCC, 2012. Renewable Energy Sources and Climate Change Mitigation Special Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press.
- 19. Ibid.
- 20. REN21 (2014), *Renewables 2014 Global Status Report*, p. 129, Paris, France
- 21. Heinrich-Böll Foundation, Friends of the Earth EWNI and World Futures Council (2013), *Powering Africa* through Feed-in Tariffs: Advancing Renewable Energy to meet the Continent's Electricity Needs, Johannesburg, South Africa
- 22. Ibid.
- 23. Bloomberg New Energy Finance, Frankfurt School UNEP Collaborating Centre (2014), *Global Trends in*

Renewable Energy Investment, Frankfurt

- 24. Renewable share of global electric generating capacity is 1,560 GW (including large-hydro) and total global electric capacity is of 5,898.3 GW - *Ren21 Global Status Report (2014)*
- 25. British Petroleum (2014), *BP Statistical Review of World Energy*, p. 41, London, UK
- 26. The International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) concludes that the world paid USD 1,900 billion in fuel subsidies in 2011, almost exclusively for fossil fuels, and exceeding the supply costs of coal, natural gas and crude oi by 50 per centl. (*IRENA* (2014), *RE Map 2030*).
- 27. Athanasiou, T, S Kartha and P Baer (2014), National Fair Shares: The mitigation gap – Domestic Action and International Support, Ecoequity and Stockholm Environment Institute, http://gdrights.org/wpcontent/uploads/2014/11/National-fair-shares1.pdf
- 28. According to the European Parliament, a financial transaction tax to curb speculation, like the one currently operating in Brazil, could bring in as much as USD 650 billion a year if applied globally http://www.europarl. europa.eu/sides/getDoc. do? type=TA&reference=P7-TA-2011-0080&language =EN
- 29. World Future Council (2010), Funding the Global Renewable Energy Transition with Interest Free New Money, A proposal from the World Future Council (WFC) to issue new Special Drawing Rights (SDR) of the IMF, http://www.worldfuturecouncil.org/ fileadmin/user_upload/papers/201011_Future_Fina nce_-_FAQ.pdf
- 30. A proposal from the World Future Council (WFC) to issue new Special Drawing Rights (SDR) of the IMF, http://www.worldfuturecouncil.org/fileadmin/user_ upload/papers/201011_Future_Finance_-_FAQ.pdf
- 31. UN DESA (2010), Working paper 95 Estimating the Amount of a Global Feed-in Tariff for Renewable Energy, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland and UNDESA, New York, USA
- 32. Friefeldt, Karen, Banks paid \$32.6 Billion in Bonuses Amid U.S. Bailout (Update4), http://www.bloomberg. com/apps/news?pid=newsarchive&sid=aHURVoSU qpho
- 33. For complementary elaboration on the institutional set-up, see Hallstrom and Sabido, 2012, 'Reclaiming power – an energy model for people and the planet' in What Next Volume III: Climate, Development and Equity, www.whatnext.org/resources/ Publications/

Volume-III/Single- articles/ wnv3_sabido_ hallstrom_144.pdf

- 34. UNDP (2011), 'UN Energy Access Facility: Expanding access to modern and clean energy services beyond the grid', presentation, http://content.undp. org/go/cms-service/download/ publication/?version=live& id=3166560
- 35. Hallstrom and Sabido (2012), 'Reclaiming power an energy model for people and the planet" in What Next Volume III: Climate, Development and Equity, www.whatnext.org/resources/ Publications/Volume-III/Single- articles/ wnv3_sabido_hallstrom_144.pdf. Sabido, P (2012), Reclaiming Power – An energy model for people and the planet. Friends of the Earth – EWNI.andFoEI, 2014. Good Energy – Bad Energy: Transforming our energy systems for people and the planet, http://www.foei.org/good-energy-bad energy/
- 36. Current GCF criteria for evaluation/results
- 37. Green Climate Fund (2013), Business Model Framework: Initial result areas and performance indicators,http://gcfund.net/fileadmin/00_customer/ documents/pdf/GCF_B05_03_BMF_RMF_fin_201309 19.pdf
- 38. World Futures Council (2013), Fit For renewables? Design options for the Green Climate Fund to support renewable energy feed-in tariffs in developing countries, London, UK
- 39. It may be useful to consider the experiences from the Committee on World Food Security that spans several Rome-based UN agencies relating to food and agriculture, and which has enabled civil society participation in ground-breaking ways within the UN system. See for example Mooney, P (2012), 'Civil society strategies and the Stockholm syndrome' in What Next Volume III: Climate, Development and Equity, http://www. whatnext.org/Publications/ Volume_3/Volume_ 3_articles/Volume_3_articles.html which has enabled civil society participation in groundbreaking ways within the UN system.
- 40. UNFCCC (2014), Submission by the Republic of Sudan on behalf of the African Group on ADP Workstream 2: Establishment of a global partnership to accelerate the Energy Transformation required for a well below 2° C World by supporting renewable energy feed-in tariffs and other incentives, http://unfccc.int/files/bodies/application/pdf/adp_ws2_africangroup.pdf ●

